FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
12/27/2023 8:20 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/28/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court NO. 10267 9.0 COA NO. 38763-1-III

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

CLAUDE MERRITT.

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF WASHINGTON FOR PEND OREILLE COUNTY

The Honorable Lech Radzimski, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CASEY GRANNIS Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC 2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 623-2373

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Claude Merritt asks the Supreme Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Merritt requests review of the decision in <u>State v.</u> <u>Claude L. Merritt</u>, Court of Appeals No. 38763-1-III (slip op. filed November 28, 2023).

C. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

Are the elements of the underlying felony essential elements of a felony murder charge, such that they must be included in the charging document in order to provide constitutionally sufficient notice of what the State must prove in order to secure a conviction, and should precedent to the contrary be overturned?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Claude Merritt by amended information with numerous offenses, including first and second degree felony murder. CP 598-606. He was convicted of both murder charges. CP 768-69. On appeal, Merritt argued, and the Court of Appeals agreed, that the second degree felony murder conviction violated double jeopardy and must be vacated. Slip op. at 8-10.

Merritt also argued the charging document was constitutionally defective in failing to set forth the elements of the predicate felony for the charges of first and second degree felony murder. Supplemental Brief of Appellant at 55-65. Observing it was bound to follow decisions of the Washington Supreme Court, the Court of Appeals concluded the amended information was not defective. Slip. Op. at 22-23.

E. ARGUMENT FOR REVIEW

1. The information is defective in failing to allege the elements of the predicate felony for the felony murder charges.

Requiring notice of what must be proven to secure a conviction is a cornerstone of the criminal justice system. When a charging document fails to set forth all essential elements of the crime, the constitutional right to notice is violated. Relying on defunct legal standards from premodern case law, the Washington Supreme Court has held an information charging felony murder need not include the elements of the predicate felony. It is time for that to change. This case presents a significant question of constitutional law warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

a. For felony murder, the elements of the predicate felony are elements of the felony murder offense because their specification is necessary to establish proof of the charge.

A charging document is constitutionally defective when it fails to include all "essential elements" of the crime. State v. Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d 782, 787, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995); Hamling v. United States, 418 U.S. 87, 117, 94 S. Ct. 2887, 41 L. Ed. 2d 590 (1974); U.S. Const. Amend. VI, XIV; Wash. Const. Art. I, §§ 3, 22.

"An 'essential element is one whose specification is necessary to establish the very illegality of the behavior' charged." State v. Zillyette, 178 Wn.2d 153, 158, 307 P.3d 712 (2013) (quoting State v. Ward, 148 Wn.2d 803, 811, 64 P.3d 640 (2003)). "Failure to allege each element means the information is insufficient to charge a crime and must be dismissed." State v. Pry, 194 Wn.2d 745, 752, 452 P.3d 536 (2019).

Where, as here, a charging document is challenged for the first time on appeal, courts use a liberal standard of review consisting of a two-pronged inquiry: "(1) do the necessary facts appear in any form, or by fair construction can they be found, in the charging document; and, if so, (2) can the defendant show that he or she was nonetheless actually prejudiced by the inartful language which caused a lack of notice?" State v. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93, 102, 812 P.2d 86 (1991).

The information alleges Merritt committed first degree felony murder as follows:

On or between the 15th day of September, 2020 and the 4th day of October, 2020, in the County of Pend Oreille, State of Washington, the above-named Defendant did commit or attempt to commit the crime of either kidnapping in the first or second degree, and in the course of or in furtherance of such crime or in immediate flight therefrom, the Defendant, or another participant, caused the death of a person other than one of the participants, to-wit Jason Fox; contrary to

Revised Code of Washington 9A.32.030(1)(c), and/or was an accomplice to said crime pursuant to RCW 9A.08.020. CP 598.

The charge for second degree felony murder replaces the kidnapping allegation with the predicate crime of "either assault in the second or third degree" but otherwise uses substantially the same language. CP 600.

The information does not allege the underlying elements of the predicate felony for the first and second degree felony murder charges. See RCW 9A.40.020 (first degree kidnapping); RCW 9A.40.030 (second degree kidnapping); RCW 9A.36.021 (second degree assault); RCW 9A.36.031 (third degree assault). The elements of the predicate felony should be included in the information as essential elements to a felony murder charge.

"Washington courts have long held that the underlying elements of the predicate felony are not essential elements of felony murder and do not have to

be included in the information." State v. Kosewicz, 174 Wn.2d 683, 692, 278 P.3d 184 (2012) (citing State v. Hartz, 65 Wn. App. 351, 354, 828 P.2d 618 (1992); State v. Anderson, 10 Wn.2d 167, 180, 116 P.2d 346 (1941); State v. Ryan, 192 Wash. 160, 164-65, 73 P.2d 735 (1937); State v. Fillpot, 51 Wash. 223, 228, 98 P. 659 (1908)).

Merritt argues for a change in the law. Merritt's argument is based on the partial dissent penned by Justice Chambers in Kosewicz, which was joined by three other justices. Cases holding the underlying elements of the predicate felony do not have to be included in the information charging felony murder are based on antiquated principles that conflict with the modern constitutional standard.

The State "must prove the elements of the predicate felony to prove the offense of felony murder." State v.

Gamble, 154 Wn.2d 457, 466, 114 P.3d 646 (2005). The elements of the predicate felony are elements of the felony murder charge because "[a]n 'essential element is one whose specification is necessary to establish the very illegality of the behavior' charged." Zillyette, 178 Wn.2d at 158 (quoting Ward, 148 Wn.2d at 811). If the State does not prove the elements of the predicate felony, it cannot establish that a felony murder has occurred. The elements of the predicate felony must therefore be included in the charging document to provide adequate notice of what the State needs to prove to secure a murder conviction.

Justice Chambers, in his partial dissent, dismantled the line of cases that hold otherwise. <u>Kosewicz</u>, 174 Wn.2d at 701-05 (Chambers, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part). It started with <u>Fillpot</u>, which concluded the specific elements of the predicate felony need not be

laid out in a felony murder charge because "[t]he [predicate] crimes of robbery and burglary . . . are elsewhere defined in the criminal code." Fillpot, 51 Wash. at 228. According to Fillpot, it is sufficient to merely state in the information the terms "robbery" or "burglary" as used in the felony murder statute because it met the statutory requirement that a person of ordinary understanding could know what was intended by looking up their elements elsewhere in the code. Id.

The reasoning supporting this 1908 decision "is as dead as the judges who authored it." State v. Bacani, 79 Wn. App. 701, 706, 902 P.2d 184 (1995) (Grosse, J., concurring) (addressing another ancient decision). Since then, the Supreme Court has repeatedly disavowed the reasoning of Fillpot. All essential elements of an alleged crime must be included in the charging document so that a defense can be prepared; "defendants should not have

to search for the rules or regulations they are accused of violating." Zillyette, 178 Wn.2d at 163 (quoting City of Auburn v. Brooke, 119 Wn.2d 623, 635, 836 P.2d 212 (1992) (citing, *inter alia*, Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d at 101-02). Requiring a defendant to locate the relevant code and determine "the elements of the offense from the proper code section" is an "unfair burden to place on an accused." Brooke, 119 Wn.2d at 635.

Anderson, from 1941, cited Fillpot as supporting authority. Anderson, 10 Wn.2d at 179-80. The issue in Anderson was whether the trial court erred in denying the defense motions to make the information more definite and certain and for a bill of particulars. Id. at 169. Anderson reasoned the information did not need to state in specific detail the facts and elements of the burglary or robbery upon which the crime of first degree felony murder was charged because the State's case was based

on the admissions of the defendant. <u>Id.</u> at 180. "We cannot conceive of any fact which the state, by way of bill of particulars or by way of making the information more definite and certain, could have furnished him that was not already locked up in his own breast." <u>Id.</u>

It is now established that a vagueness challenge stemming from the denial of a bill of particulars is different from a constitutional sufficiency challenge to a charging document. City of Bothell v. Kaiser, 152 Wn. App. 466, 474, 217 P.3d 339 (2009) (citing State v. Leach, 113 Wn.2d 679, 686-87, 782 P.2d 552 (1989)). "A constitutionally defective information omits essential elements; a vague information states the elements but is vague about some other significant matter." Kaiser, 152 Wn. App. at 474 (citing Leach, 113 Wn.2d at 686-87).

Anderson thus provides no pertinent holding on the matter at issue here. If Anderson is nevertheless read as

pronouncing a rule on the constitutional adequacy of the charging document, there is no support for it in modern law. As Justice Chambers opined, "To say no notice is needed because the defendant himself knows what he did is antithetical to modern principles of fairness and due process." Kosewicz, 174 Wn.2d at 703 (Chambers, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part). No case in modern times has held the essential elements of a crime need not be included in the charging document so long as the charge is based on the defendant's confession.

Ryan, from 1937, relied on Fillpot as setting forth the rule of law on the issue. Ryan, 192 Wash. at 164-65. The majority opinion in Kosewicz likewise relied on Fillpot and its descendants. Kosewicz, 174 Wn.2d at 692. The majority stated "the defendant is not actually charged with the underlying crime" and "[t]he predicate felony merely substitutes for the mental state the State is otherwise

required to prove." <u>Id.</u> at 691-92 (citing <u>State v. Craig</u>, 82 Wn.2d 777, 781, 514 P.2d 151 (1973); <u>State v. Whitfield</u>, 129 Wash. 134, 139, 224 P. 559 (1924)).

However, this just means the State is not required to prove the defendant's state of mind at the time of the killing to establish a felony murder. Craig, 82 Wn.2d at 781-82; Whitfield, 129 Wash. at 138-39. The State is still required to prove the intent to commit the predicate felony to prove a felony murder. State v. Wanrow, 91 Wn.2d 301, 311, 588 P.2d 1320 (1978) ("The intent necessary to prove the felony-murder is the intent necessary to prove the underlying felony.").

For first degree felony murder in Merritt's case, the underlying felonies of first and second degree kidnapping carry a culpable mental state of intent to abduct while the first degree kidnapping additionally requires intent to inflict bodily injury. RCW 9A.40.020(1)(c) (first degree

kidnapping); RCW 9A.40.030(1) (second degree kidnapping); CP 736-37 (jury instructions on kidnapping).

For second degree felony murder, the underlying second degree assault includes the culpable mental state of intent to assault and reckless infliction of substantial bodily harm or assault with intent to commit a felony. RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a), (e); CP 741 (jury instruction on second degree assault). The underlying third degree assault requires causing bodily harm to another person by means of a weapon or other instrument or thing likely to produce bodily harm with criminal negligence. RCW 9A.36.031(d) (third degree assault); CP 742 (jury instruction on third degree assault).

Neither felony murder charge in Merritt's case specifies the culpable mental state necessary to convict for the crime. CP 598, 600. The State is required to prove all the elements of the predicate felony to prove a

felony murder. <u>Gamble</u>, 154 Wn.2d at 466. This includes the culpable mental state, without which there is no crime. <u>Pry</u>, 194 Wn.2d at 759-60 (information defective in omitting mental state required to establish the offense of rendering criminal assistance).

When a necessary element for the charge is neither found nor fairly implied in the information, this Court presumes prejudice. State v. Brown, 169 Wn.2d 195, 198, 234 P.3d 212 (2010). The convictions for first and second degree felony murder should be reversed because the information does not set forth the elements of the predicate felonies. The remedy is reversal and dismissal of the charges without prejudice. Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d at 792-93.

¹ Although the second degree felony murder conviction was vacated on double jeopardy grounds, it is necessary to challenge the second degree murder conviction because if the first degree conviction is alone reversed.

b. Precedent to the contrary should be overturned.

"[C]ourts must have and exert the capacity to change a rule of law when reason so requires." State v. Barber, 170 Wn.2d 854, 863, 248 P.3d 494 (2011) (quoting In re Rights to Waters of Stranger Creek, 77 Wn.2d 649, 653, 466 P.2d 508 (1970)). "Reluctant as we are to depart from former decisions, we cannot yield to them, if, in yielding, we perpetuate error and sacrifice principle." Barber, 170 Wn.2d at 863 (quoting Keene v. Edie, 131 Wn.2d 822, 831, 935 P.2d 588 (1997)).

This Court can reconsider its precedent "not only when it has been shown to be incorrect and harmful but also when the legal underpinnings of our precedent have

then the second degree conviction would be reinstated. State v. Turner, 169 Wn.2d 448, 460-61, 238 P.3d 461 (2010) (constitutional double jeopardy principles are not offended by reinstating the lesser of two convictions when the lesser conviction was originally vacated on double jeopardy grounds).

changed or disappeared altogether." W.G. Clark Constr.

Co. v. Pac. Nw. Reg'l Council of Carpenters, 180 Wn.2d

54, 66, 322 P.3d 1207 (2014).

As argued above, the cases holding elements of the predicate felony need not be included in an information charging felony murder are incorrect because they do not comport with current standards for judging the constitutional adequacy of a charging document.

Other courts have reached the same conclusion.

Kreck v. Spalding, 721 F.2d 1229, 1233 (9th Cir. 1983);

State v. Israel, 78 Hawai'i 66, 75, 890 P.2d 303 (Haw. 1995) (disagreeing with Hartz); People v. Miles, 96 III.

App.3d 721, 725, 52 III. Dec. 324, 422 N.E.2d 5 (III. App. Ct. 1981).

The legal underpinnings for the existing Washinton rule have eroded. As this Court has observed, "stare decisis does not compel us to follow a past decision when

its rationale no longer withstands careful analysis. When the generalization underpinning a decision is unfounded, we should not continue in blind adherence to its faulty assumption." Rose v. Anderson Hay & Grain Co., 184 Wn.2d 268, 282, 358 P.3d 1139 (2015).

Aside from erosion, the precedent is harmful because it offends the due process right to notice of the The doctrine crime charged. embodied the constitutional right to be apprised of the nature and cause of the accusation "is elementary and of universal application, and is founded on the plainest principle of justice." Pry, 194 Wn.2d at 751 (quoting State v. Gehrke, 193 Wn.2d 1, 6, 434 P.3d 522 (2019) (lead opinion) (first and third alterations in original) (quoting State v. Ackles, 8 Wash. 462, 464-65, 36 P. 597 (1894)). A rule that offends the plainest principle of justice should be discarded.

E. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, Merritt respectfully requests review.

I certify that this document was prepared using word processing software and contains 2624 words excluding those portions exempt under RAP 18.17.