FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/25/2024 4:08 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102679-0

SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

CLAUDE LEROY MERRITT, PETITIONER

AMENDED ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DOLLY N. HUNT Prosecuting Attorney

Brett Pearce Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

Pend Oreille Prosecutor's Office P.O. Box 5070 Newport, WA 99156 (509) 447-4414

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

This is consistent with other jurisdictions. *See State v. Reese*, 687 S.W.2d 635, 638 (Mo. Ct. App. 1985); *Glowacki v. Sacks*, 176 N.E.2d 844 (Ohio App. 1960); *Smith v. State*, 540 S.W.2d 693 (Tex.Crim.App. 1976).

This is because an accused is not charged with the predicate crime, so the predicate crime's elements are not essential elements. *Kosewicz*, 174 Wn.2d at 691-92. Instead, the predicate offense substitutes for the mens rea the State is otherwise required to prove. *Id.* at 692.

Substitution of another offense for a mental state is not uncommon. The mens rea for burglary is the intent to commit a crime against person or property inside a building. *State v. Bergeron*, 105 Wn.2d 1, 4, 711 P.2d 1000 (1985); *State v. Moreno*, 198 Wn.2d 737, 745-46, 499 P.3d 198 (2021). The specific crime need not be included in the information or the jury instructions. *Bergeron*, 105 Wn.2d at 16.

Inchoate offenses are analogous. The essential elements of any conspiracy offense are an agreement to commit a predicate crime with one or more persons and the taking of a "substantial step" toward the completion of that agreement. *State v. Moavenzadeh*, 135 Wn.2d 359, 364, 956 P.2d 1097 (1998). Nine members of this Court recently held that an information charging attempted first degree murder need not contain the "premeditation" element—an essential element of first degree murder—because the only essential elements of attempted first degree murder are intent to commit first degree murder and a substantial step towards the crime. *State v. Canela*, 199 Wn.2d 321, 335, 505 P.3d 1166 (2022).

Merritt's main argument appears to be that because the State must prove a predicate felony occurred to sustain a conviction for felony murder, the predicate's elements must be alleged in the information. Pet. at 14-15. This Court rejected a

similar argument in *Canela*, observing that even if premeditation must be proven at a trial for attempted first degree murder, that argument "conflates the standard of proof needed at trial with the requirements of charging documents. An information need only inform the defendant 'of the nature and cause of the accusation'; the State does not need to prove the accusation at the charging stage." *Id.* The legal underpinnings have not changed; they were recently reinforced by this Court in *Canela*.

Felony murder may be predicated on either a completed or attempted felony. RCW 9A.43.030(1)(c); RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b). A jury can return a verdict on an inferior degree or lesser included offense regardless of whether it is charged so long as some evidence supports the theory. RCW 10.61.003-.006; *State v. Coryell*, 197 Wn.2d 397, 415, 483 P.3d 98 (2021). Requiring an information alleging felony murder to

include additional, non-essential elements would require an even greater number of permutations to be logically consistent.

Here, had the jury returned a verdict on second degree kidnapping under an inferior degree instruction request, Merritt's conviction would be valid, and he would have been provided notice of the *charged* offense. However, as this Court observed, an inferior degree offense is distinct from a lesser included offense, and the elements need not be the same when a request is made for an inferior degree offense. *See Coryell*, 197 Wn.2d 397. Merritt's requested rule change could have the unintentional consequence of requiring the State to charge every possible permutation of attempt or inferior degree or lesser included offense in order to remain logically consistent.

4. This Court's prior decisions are not harmful.

Merritt fails to demonstrate this Court's prior decisions are harmful. As demonstrated by the procedural history of this case,

a bill of particulars, limitations of evidence, and even mid-trial dismissal of a charge are potential remedies when an information is defective. CrR 2.1(c); CrR 8.3(b); *State v. Devine*, 84 Wn.2d 467, 471, 527 P.2d 72 (1974).

Merritt has never alleged prejudice from the charging language for felony murder. Merritt did not challenge the felony murder charging language at trial, though he requested a bill of particulars for another charge. He successfully moved for the dismissal of a third charge at the conclusion of the State's case-in-chief, predicated on deficient notice. This strongly suggests Merritt's current challenge is sandbagging, not a genuine notice defect rendering him unable to adequately prepare a defense.

B. IF THE BARE INDICTMENT OMITS ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF A CRIME, THE REMEDY OF AUTOMATIC REVERSAL IS NO LONGER LEGALLY SUPPORTED, AND BOTH INCORRECT AND HARMFUL.

The legal underpinnings of the ancient rule requiring automatic reversal of omitted elements in a bare information, without a chance for the State to demonstrate harmless error, including review of affidavits of probable cause, have dramatically changed. The rule is also both incorrect and harmful. This Court should revisit the *Kjorsvik* test pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and RAP 13.4(d).

Substantial modern procedural protections now exist which did not when this ancient rule was adopted. Effectively treating this type of error as structural is incorrect because it conflicts with the clear definition of structural error and the purpose of an information. The rule is harmful because it leads to unnecessary reversals where there is absolutely no showing or

allegation of prejudice, and it fails to account for the interests of judicial economy, finality, and prevention of sandbagging.

Two possible changes could correct the law. charging document defects could be subject to constitutional harmless error analysis. Multiple other jurisdictions use this approach, including jurisdictions which Merritt now relies on. Second, as recently suggested by Justice Yu, reviewing courts could be permitted to consider affidavits of probable cause submitted with an indictment as one "charging document" in determining whether an accused received an adequate description of the offense. State v. Pry, 194 Wn.2d 745, 452 P.3d 536 (2019) (Yu, J., dissenting). Justice Yu notes the phrase "charging document" has not been subject to prior judicial construction, and prior Supreme Court charging document cases have already explicitly considered incorporated police reports. Id. at 764-65 (citing State v. Leach, 113 Wn.2d 679, 684, 782

P.2d 552 (1989)). Under Justice Yu's reasoning, adopting this approach would not require this Court to overrule any precedent. This makes sense, because the current approach requires any reviewing court to turn a blind eye to the entire record created after an information is filed.

1. <u>Legal underpinnings.</u>

The purpose of the charging document has ancient common law roots:

First, to furnish the accused with such a description of the charge against him as will enable him to make his defense, and avail himself of his conviction or acquittal for protection against a further prosecution for the same cause; and, second, to inform form [sic] the court of the facts alleged, so that it may decide whether they are sufficient in law to support a conviction, if one should be had. For this, facts are to be stated; not conclusions of law alone. A crime is made up of acts and intent; and these must be set forth in the indictment with reasonable particularity of time, place, and circumstances.

United States v. Hess, 124 U.S. 483, 487-88, 8 S.Ct. 571, 31 L.Ed. 516 (1888). The purpose of the rule, adopted prior to

Chapman, was "to secure the basic institutional purpose of the grand jury, by ensuring that a defendant is not convicted on the basis of facts not found by, and perhaps not even presented to, the grand jury that indicted him." *United States v. Keith*, 605 F.2d 462, 464 (9th Cir. 1979)(emphasis added). Washington does not provide a constitutional right to a grand jury proceeding.

These historic policies undergirding charging documents support change. Although one of the purposes of the information is to assist the trial court's evidentiary analysis, Washington trial courts are *not* limited to the plain language of the information when engaging in a preliminary determination of the facts alleged, and instead consider the accompanying affidavits of probable cause. CrR 2.1, 2.2(a); CrR 3.2.1(b); *see also People v. Jones*, 51 Cal.3d 294, 792 P.2d 643, 656-57 (1990) (review of evidence presented at the preliminary hearing and pretrial

discovery procedures can inform a claim of defective notice in an information). This fact is not lost on other jurisdictions:

modern procedures in criminal cases have eroded if not eliminated ... concerns about fair notice in the indictment process ... It is clear that in modern criminal prosecutions initiated by informations, the transcript of the preliminary hearing, not the accusatory pleading, affords defendant practical notice of the criminal acts against which he must defend.

People v. Gordon, 165 Cal.App.3d 839, 868-869, 212 Cal.Rptr. 174 (1985) (Sims, J., concurring).

In direct response to Merritt's claim that it is unfair to place any burden of reading the information on an accused, one of the historical purposes of a sufficient charging document was to ascertain whether double jeopardy protections applied, so that an accused could plead double jeopardy as an affirmative bar to the charge. This requires more than just a bare statement of the elements; the information necessary for an accused to determine if a double jeopardy protection is relevant is best provided by the

affidavit of probable cause, not the plain language of the criminal information. The constitution requires notice; the affidavit of probable cause, coupled with the information, provide the best notice.

Subsequent to adoption of the ancient common law rule, criminal legal practice modernized substantially. Trial by ambush no longer exists. Robust, reciprocal rules of discovery now exist. *See* CrR 4.7. The federal constitution imposes mandatory burdens on the State to protect an accused's constitutional rights. *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 87, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963). An accused who cannot afford an attorney is provided a constitutionally effective one at public expense. *Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335, 345, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963); *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Outside the law, technology has advanced to the point that statutes are

posted on public websites, which may even be accessed in real time, in court, on a cellular phone.

The test Washington uses to assess the sufficiency of a charging document was created long before the Supreme Court adopted the constitutional harmless error analysis. Compare e.g., Rosen v. United States, 161 U.S. 29, 33, 16 S.Ct. 434, 40 L.Ed. 606 (1896), with Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967) (adopting constitutional harmless error). Our current test was developed precisely because the Court no longer thought it appropriate to reverse convictions "because of minor and technical deficiencies which did not prejudice the accused." Smith v. United States, 360 U.S. 1, 9, 79 S.Ct. 991, 997, 3 L.Ed.2d 1041 (1959). If the Supreme Court had the benefit of *Chapman* earlier, it likely would have utilized constitutional harmless error, precisely to avoid reversing convictions for errors which do not deprive an accused of notice.

2. Constitutional error analysis.

The above evolution of the law demonstrates automatic reversal due to the lack of one word in one of the many documents filed with a court and shared with any accused at a preliminary hearing is no longer an appropriate rule or remedy. "Reversal for error, regardless of its effect on the judgment, encourages litigants to abuse the judicial process and bestirs the public to ridicule it." *Rose v. Clark*, 478 U.S. 570, 577, 106 S.Ct. 3101, 92 L.Ed.2d 460 (1986).

Accordingly, almost all alleged errors, even constitutional errors, are subject to harmless error analysis. *Chapman*, 386 U.S. 18; *and see*, *e.g.*, *Milton v. Wainwright*, 407 U.S. 371, 372-73, 92 S.Ct. 2174, 33 L.Ed.2d 1 (1972) (post-indictment/pretrial confession); *Chambers v. Maroney*, 399 U.S. 42, 52-53, 90 S.Ct.

1975, 26 L.Ed.2d 416 (1970) (search and seizure); *Price v. Georgia*, 398 U.S. 323, 331, 90 S.Ct. 1757, 26 L.Ed.2d 300 (1970) (double jeopardy); *Harrington v. California*, 395 U.S. 250, 253-54, 89 S.Ct. 1726, 23 L.Ed.2d 284 (1969) (right to confrontation); *Fontaine v. California*, 390 U.S. 593, 595-96, 88 S.Ct. 1229, 20 L.Ed.2d 154 (1968) (comment on silence); *United States v. Wade*, 388 U.S. 218, 242, 87 S.Ct. 1926, 18 L.Ed.2d 1149 (1967) (due process). The "errors to which *Chapman* does not apply ... are the exception and not the rule." *Rose*, 478 U.S. at 578.

"A challenge to the sufficiency of an indictment is not a game in which the lawyer with the sharpest eye or the cleverest argument can gain reversal for his client." *United States v. Coleman*, 656 F.2d 509, 510 (9th Cir. 1981) (internal quotations omitted).

The ancient forms and technicalities of the common law, which subserved no purpose except to

embarrass and impede the administration of justice, have been wisely discarded, and we now have a system of criminal pleading which neither disregards any of the substantial rights of the accused nor permits him to shield himself from just punishment by requiring the insertion in the indictment or information of allegations in nowise necessary to inform him of the 'nature and cause of the accusation against him, but which under the old system were necessary to be alleged and proved, or an acquittal would result, though the fact of guilt were otherwise manifest.

State v. Fillpot, 51 Wash. 223, 227, 98 P. 659 (1908) (internal citations omitted).

Structural error is a special category of error that "affect[s] the framework within which the trial proceeds, rather than simply an error in the trial process itself." *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 310, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991). Where there is structural error "a criminal trial cannot reliably serve its function as a vehicle for determination of guilt or innocence, and no criminal punishment may be regarded as fundamentally fair." *Id.* (quoting *Rose*, 478 U.S. at 577-78).

"Structural errors are rare and encompass only the most egregious constitutional violations." *Matter of Lewis*, 200 Wn.2d 848, 857-58, 523 P.3d 760 (2023). Structural errors are presumed prejudicial because "it is often difficult to assess the effect of the error." *State v. Shearer*, 181 Wn.2d 564, 572-73, 334 P.3d 1078 (2014) (quoting *United States v. Marcus*, 560 U.S. 258, 263, 130 S.Ct. 2159, 176 L.Ed.2d 1012 (2010)). Creating a category of structural error "makes sense because ... structural defects 'defy analysis by harmless-error standards." *In re Stockwell*, 179 Wn.2d 588, 608, 316 P.3d 1007 (2014) (Gordon-McCloud, J., concurring) (quoting *Fulminante*, 499 U.S. at 309 (Rehnquist, C.J., concurring)).

Put differently, "[a] structural error requires per se reversal because it cannot be fairly determined how a trial would have been resolved if the grave error had not occurred." *People v. Bush*, 213 Cal. Rptr. 3d 593, 608, 7 Cal. App. 5th 457 (2017).

As an example, "[i]t is especially hard to make a showing of harm resulting from public trial rights violations because the consequences are difficult to prove in any particular case." *Shearer*, 181 Wn.2d at 572-73.

Defects in charging language do not satisfy this high standard. Other jurisdictions observe that a defective information is capable of judicial review: "constitutional right to notice of the charge brought against him can be satisfied by the availability of other means of obtaining notice of the factual or legal basis of the charge against him, *such as a bill of particulars, a preliminary examination and criminal pre-trial discovery.*" *Dowell v. C.M. Lensing*, 805 F. Supp. 1335, 1343 (M.D. La. 1992) (emphasis added)

Merritt relies on Illinois law. While Illinois requires the elements of the predicate offenses to be alleged in a felony murder charging document, Illinois does not automatically

reverse convictions. Instead, Illinois permits a reviewing court to assess the entire record to see if the appellant can affirmatively demonstrate prejudice before reversing a conviction. *People v. Carey*, 104 N.E.3d 1150, 1156 (Ill. 2018). During review,

the appellate court should consider whether the defect in the information or indictment prejudiced the defendant in preparing his defense ... the question is whether, in light of the facts of record, the indictment was so imprecise as to prejudice defendant's ability to prepare a defense...If the reviewing court cannot say that the charging instrument error inhibited the defendant in the preparation of his or her defense, then the court cannot conclude that the defendant suffered any prejudice.

Id. (internal quotations omitted). Merritt wishes to have the benefit of a stricter rule while avoiding robust review from this Court.

Illinois is not alone. When reconciling the three types of challenges to an information, Kansas observed a violation of the

constitutional right results in review for constitutional harmless error:

certainly, if the defendant's challenge grows out of the Fifth and Fourteenth or the Sixth Amendments, the court will be guided by the test for harmlessness applicable to federal constitutional error. *See Chapman*[, 386 U.S. at 22-24].

State v. Dunn, 304 Kan. 773, 817, 375 P.3d 332 (2016).

When reviewing a California state conviction, the Ninth Circuit distinguished between a curable lack of notice in an information versus a lack of notice which arose because "of a pattern of government conduct" which "affirmatively misled the defendant" by ambushing him *after* the close of evidence at trial with a new theory of the case. *Sheppard v. Rees*, 909 F.2d 1234, 1236 (9th Cir. 1989). The Court held structural error applied to the latter circumstance, but observed a notice defect alone could be cured by reviewing the record:

for example, a complaint, an arrest warrant, or a bill of particulars. (citation omitted). Similarly, it is possible that an accused could become apprised of the particular charges during the course of a preliminary hearing. Any or all of these sources-or perhaps others-might provide notice sufficient to meet the requirements of due process, although precise formal notice is certainly the most reliable way to comply with the Sixth Amendment.

Id. at 1236 n.2; see also Usher v. Gomez, 775 F. Supp. 1308, 1314 (N.D. Cal. 1991) (consulting entire record to decide lack of notice claim). The Ninth Circuit observed on direct appeal from a federal conviction that information error is not subject to constitutional harmless error only when challenged timely pretrial. U.S. v. Du Bo, 186 F.3d 1177 (9th Cir. 1999). "In a later unpublished opinion, that court declined to abandon harmless error analysis where the claim was not timely made at or before trial." United States v. Mojica-Baez, 229 F.3d 292, 308 (1st Cir. 2000). Not every circuit follows Du Bo. United States v. Gray, 260 F.3d 1276 (11th Cir. 2001).

Analogously, this Court determined omitted elements of an offense in a jury instruction may be harmless:

The United States Supreme Court has held that an erroneous jury instruction that omits an element of the offense is subject to harmless error analysis:

Unlike such defects as the complete deprivation of counsel or trial before a biased judge, an instruction that omits an element of the offense does not necessarily render a criminal trial fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for determining guilt or innocence.

Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 18, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999). We find no compelling reason why this Court should not follow the United States Supreme Court's holding in Neder.

State v. Brown, 147 Wn.2d 330, 341, 58 P.3d 889 (2002). An omitted element in a jury instruction may be harmless when the omitted element is established by "uncontroverted evidence." *Id.* at 341.

If a verdict may be sustained notwithstanding an omitted element, it is inconsistent that it may not be sustained where an information omits it, regardless of the affidavit of probable cause, procedural safeguards, and indicia of notice which accompanied or followed the filing of the information. This is the result the First Circuit reached when trying to square the holding in *Neder* with a claim that an information lacking an essential element required automatic reversal. *Mojica-Baez*, 229 F.3d at 311-12 (sentencing enhancement error).

At a minimum, the affidavit of probable cause provides better notice than a charging document, and any court must be provided a factual basis supporting probable cause before a case may proceed. A challenge to a charging document, in the context of modern legal practice, does not warrant automatic reversal akin to structural error for omitted elements. Constitutional harmless error would be impossible to establish if any accused

person was prosecuted for conduct absent any notice, including review of probable cause, discovery, or other protections. The error is not difficult to assess: the report of proceedings, probable cause affidavit and other clerk's papers like the jury instructions, or opening and closing arguments would demonstrate whether an accused received notice. The current test is no longer supported by modern procedural law and is both incorrect and harmful.

VII. CONCLUSION

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